ORIGINAL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 86,956

STATE OF FLORIDA

Petitioner,

FILED SID J. WANTE MAR 1 1996

vs.

ROBERT LEE DOZIER,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR CERTIORARI REVIEW

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

GEORGINA JIMENEZ-OROSA Senior Assistant Attorney General Chief, West Palm Beach Bureau Florida Bar No. 441510

MELYNDA L. MELEAR Senior Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 765570 1655 Palm Beach Lakes Boulevard Suite 300 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 Telephone: (407) 688-7759 FAX (407) 688-7771 Counsel for Petitioner

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent, Robert Lee Dozier, was the Defendant and Petitioner, the State of Florida, was the prosecution in the trial on criminal charges filed in the Circuit Court of the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Indian River County, Florida. Respondent, Dozier, was the Appellant, and Petitioner, the State of Florida, was the Appellee, in the appeal filed with District Court of Appeal, Fourth District. In this brief, the parties shall be referred to as they appear before this Honorable Court, except that Petitioner may also be referred to herein as "the State."

In this brief, the symbol "A" will be used to denote the appendix attached hereto.

All emphasis in this brief is supplied by Petitioner unless otherwise indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Criminal charges were filed against Respondent under Indian River County Case No. 94-234-CF (R. 4-5). Judge Joe Wild, a county court judge, was the judge assigned to try Respondent's case, pursuant to an Administrative Order (R. 35). Respondent moved to disqualify Judge Wild from presiding over his trial, alleging that Judge Wild was without jurisdiction over his case because he had become "a *de facto* circuit judge" (R. 32-34). Judge Wild denied Respondent's motion to disqualify (R. 38-39).

Respondent filed a Petition for Writ of Prohibition in the District Court of Appeal, Fourth District, alleging that due to the continuous appointments of Judge Wild to handle half of the Indian River County felony case load, Judge Wild had become a *de facto* circuit judge; that as a *de facto* circuit judge in violation of the Florida Constitution, Judge Wild was without "authority" to conduct felony trials in Indian River County; and that, as such, Judge Wild should be prevented from presiding over Respondent's trial to prevent a miscarriage of justice (A. "A"). The Fourth District denied Respondent's petition, with the following citation: "<u>See</u> <u>Wallace v. State</u>, 609 So. 2d 64 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992)" (A. "B").

After jury trial, Respondent was adjudicated guilty as charged (R. 57, 72-73). Respondent appealed from his conviction to the

Fourth District (R. 88). In his first point on appeal, Respondent alleged that Judge Wild lacked jurisdiction to preside over his felony prosecution because his assignment as a circuit court judge was not temporary (A. "C"). Respondent pointed out that, "Judge Wild entered an Order denying the motion to disqualify (R. 38-39) which is virtually identical to that entered by Judge Wild and invalidated by this Court sitting <u>en banc</u> in <u>Dozier v. Honorable</u> <u>Joe A. Wild</u> (Case No. 94-1104, ____ So. 2d ___ (Fla. 4th DCA En Banc Opinion filed September 29, 1994)" (A. "C" p. 8).

Notwithstanding Petitioner's arguments against reversal, primarily based on law of the case (A. "D"), the Fourth District reversed Respondent's conviction based on this point alone (A. "E").¹ It held:

> In another appeal involving a different conviction of this very same defendant, we reversed his conviction on the ground that it was unconstitutional for a county court judge to be repeatedly assigned to hear criminal cases over which only a circuit judge has jurisdiction, and we certified the issue as one of great public importance. <u>Dozier v.</u> <u>Wild</u>, 659 So. 2d 1103 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995). Because Dozier's conviction in this case is indistinguishable on the constitutional issue, his motion to disqualify Judge Wild should

¹ The Fourth District addressed the other two points raised by Respondent on appeal, and determined that they did not warrant reversal.

have been granted. We therefore reverse his conviction, but since we are mindful that our Supreme Court may disagree, we address Dozier's other arguments.

(A. "E").

After Petitioner's motion for rehearing in the district court was denied, it filed a timely notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this court based on <u>Jollie v. State</u>, 405 So. 2d 418 (Fla. 1981)because <u>Wild v. Dozier</u>, Case No. 85,050 was then pending before this court. On February 13, 1996, this court entered an order accepting jurisdiction and setting out a briefing schedule. Petitioner's Brief on the Merits timely follows.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Fourth District erred in holding unconstitutional the administrative order by the chief judge for the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit, dated September 28, 1993, which permitted Judge Wild to sit on the instant case. This court's recent decision in <u>The</u> <u>Honorable Joe A. Wild v. Dozier</u>, 21 Fla. L. Weekly S57 (Fla. Feb. 8, 1996) makes clear that the Fourth District neither had the authority to review the order, nor correctly determined that it was invalid. Rather, as this court determined in <u>Wild</u>, the order constituted a valid "temporary assignment," so that Judge Wild had jurisdiction to hear this case.

Even if this court had not upheld the order in <u>Wild</u>, the Fourth District erred in reversing Respondent's conviction. Respondent did not show that the trial court was biased or impartial in any way. Hence, the conviction, which was entered with the color of authority, should not have been voided, but should have been deemed valid.

Since the Fourth District explicitly found no reversible error outside of the jurisdictional issue, this court should reinstate the conviction and sentence.

POINT I

THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FOURTH DISTRICT, ERRED IN HOLDING UNCONSTITUTIONAL THE ADMINISTRATIVE ORDER OF SEPTEMBER 28, 1993, WHICH WAS ISSUED BY THE CHIEF JUDGE PURSUANT TO SECTION 2(b)(d), ARTICLE V OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION AND RULE 2.050 (b)(3)(4), RULES OF JUDICIAL ADMINISTRATION.

In The Honorable Joe A. Wild v. Dozier, 21 Fla. L. Weekly S57 (Fla. Feb. 8, 1996), this court held that it has exclusive jurisdiction, pursuant to Article V, Section 2(a) of the Florida Constitution, to review challenges to judicial assignments. It stated, "Accordingly, we hold that a litigant who is affected by a judicial assignment made by a chief judge of a judicial circuit must challenge the assignment in the trial court and then seek review in this Court by way of a petition for writ of prohibition or petition for relief under the 'all writs' power." 21 Fla. L. Weekly at S57. This Court explained, "This grant of exclusive authority ensures this Court's plenary control over the state's court system and avoids the disruptive effect allowing district courts to quash judicial assignments would have on that system." Id.

Since this Court was the only proper forum for Respondent to challenge the denial of his motion for disqualification, then, the

Fourth District had no authority to hold invalid the administrative order allowing Judge Wild to sit as a circuit court judge. Indeed, this Court specifically noted in <u>Wild</u> that there is nothing in the Constitution to indicate that district courts are to share in the administrative supervision of the trial courts. <u>Id</u>.

This Court also concluded in <u>Wild</u> that the **exact same** judicial assignments in question here were permissible. This Court explained that the assignments were "temporary," as contemplated by <u>Fla. R.</u> <u>Jud. Admin.</u> 2.050 (b)(4), for Judge Wild continued to do all of his county court work and received new assignments every six months to hear half of the criminal circuit court cases. <u>Id</u>. at S58. In addition, it reasoned:

> In multi-county circuits the county judges in the less populous counties are often underutilized, yet they are willing to do circuit judge work. In some instances there are no circuit judges resident within those The most efficient use of scarce counties. judicial resources dictates the assignment of county judges to handle limited aspects of circuit judge work in such counties, provided that the assignments do not interfere with the full performance of county judge duties.

<u>Id.</u>

Accordingly, the Fourth District erred in holding that Judge Wild did not have jurisdiction to sit on the instant case. <u>See Wild</u>, 21 Fla. L. Weekly at S58(Judge Wild has been sitting on felony cases

pursuant to valid orders, and, therefore, is not without jurisdiction to hear these cases).

The Fourth District's error in reversing the instant case is compounded by the fact that Respondent had already been tried and convicted. Whereas in <u>Wild</u>, the Fourth District granted the pretrial petition for writ of prohibition, in this case, the Fourth District had actually permitted the order to remain in effect for the trial. The Fourth District <u>denied</u> Respondent's petition for writ of prohibition, and then turned around on direct appeal from the final judgment and held unconstitutional the administrative order which was the subject of the pretrial petition.²

The State submits, as it did below, that even if the trial court had acted only in the *de facto* capacity alleged by

² Indeed, Respondent sought interlocutory review of the trial court's refusal to recuse by way of a petition for writ of prohibition, which the Fourth District denied citing to Wallace v. State, 609 So. 2d 64 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992) (A. "B"). As an aside, therefore, the State contends, as it did below, that the reference to <u>Wallace</u> constituted a denial on the merits which served as law of the case. See Arp v. State, 547 So. 2d 212 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992). That is especially true since briefing on the petition for writ of prohibition was directed to the merits. See Reves v. State, 554 So. 2d 625 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989); State v. Stanley, 399 So. 2d 371, 372 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981). In <u>Barwick v. State</u>, 660 So. 2d 685, 691 (Fla. 1995), this court noted that Judge Anstead's special concurrence in DeGennaro v. Janie Dean Chevrolet, Inc., 600 So. 2d 44 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992) recognized that a denial of a petition for writ of prohibition in the Fourth District should henceforth constitute a ruling on the merits unless otherwise indicated.

Respondent, the judgment entered against Respondent would not have been automatically void. Rather, it would have been merely voidable, since a de facto trial judge functions under color of authority. See Card. State, 497 So. 2d 1169, 1173 (Fla. 1987). Common sense dictates that "voidable" means that there is only a possibility of the judgment being voided upon a proper showing. See Dade County v. Transportes Aereos Nacionales, S.A., 298 So. 2d 570, (Fla. 3d DCA), <u>cert.</u> denied, 305 So. 2d 206 (Fla. 572 1974) ("voidable assessment" is one which has been made in good faith but is irregular or unfair, and the taxpayer must move in due time and must make a full and clear showing of right to appropriate In the de facto judge situation, such a showing would relief). require the challenging party to explain why the otherwise valid judgment and sentence should be invalidated.

Below, Respondent offered no basis for finding that the trial court was biased against him, or that it was impartial in regards to his case. Consistently, this court has stated that a *de facto* trial judge's acts are valid. <u>See Stein v. Foster</u>, 557 So. 2d 861, 862 (Fla. 1990); <u>Card</u>, 497 So. 2d at 1173-1174. And, many courts have determined that a *de facto* trial court has jurisdiction over all matters which it handled. <u>See Card</u>, 497 So. 2d at 1173-1174; <u>State v. King</u>, 426 SO. 2d 12, 14 (Fla. 1982); <u>Willie v. State</u>, 600

So. 2d 479, 481 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992); <u>Kruckenberg v. State</u>, 422 So. 2d 994, 996 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982); <u>Grossman v. Selewacs</u>, 417 So. 2d 728, 730 (Fla. 1982); <u>In re Peterson</u>, 364 So. 2d 98, 99 (Fla. 4th DCA 1977). <u>See also Banker's Life and Casualty Co. v. Gaines</u> <u>Const. Co.</u>, 191 So. 2d 478, 479 (Fla. 3d DCA 1966).

Thus, notwithstanding this Court's decision in <u>Wild</u>, the Fourth District erred in voiding the judgment against Respondent. As the Fifth District in <u>Kruckenberg</u>, 422 So. 2d at 996 noted, subject only to substanative recusal, a litigant does not have a right to have any particular judge hear his case. Similarly, a litigant does not have a right not to have a particular judge hear his case.

In closing, Petitioner points out that the Fourth District reversed Respondent's conviction based solely on Judge Wild having presided over the instant case. The Fourth District held:

> In another appeal involving a different conviction of this very same defendant, we reversed his conviction on the ground that it was unconstitutional for a county court judge to be repeatedly assigned to hear criminal cases over which only a circuit judge has jurisdiction, and we certified the issue as one of great public importance. <u>Dozier v.</u> <u>Wild</u>, 659 So. 2d 1103 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995). Because Dozier's conviction in this case is indistinguishable on the constitutional issue, his motion to disqualify Judge Wild should have been granted. We therefore reverse his

conviction, <u>but since we are mindful that our</u> <u>Supreme Court may disagree, we address</u> <u>Dozier's other arguments.</u>

(A. "E")(emphasis supplied).

It addressed the other two points raised by Respondent on appeal, and determined that they did not warrant reversal (A. "E"). Hence, rather than remand this case for further proceedings, this court should reinstate the conviction and sentence.

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, based on the above and foregoing arguments and authorities cited therein, the State of Florida respectfully submits that the decision of the district court should be **QUASHED** and the conviction and sentence be **REINSTATED**.