IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

vs.

ROBERT LEE DOZIER,

Respondent.

FILED SID J. WHITE MAR 8 1996 CLERK, SUPREME COURT BY CHEF Deputy Clerk

Case No. 86,956

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

On petition for review from The District Court of Appeal, Fourth District

> RICHARD L. JORANDBY Public Defender 15th Judicial Circuit of Florida

ELLEN MORRIS Assistant Public Defender Attorney for Robert Lee Dozier Criminal Justice Building/6th Floor 421 3rd Street West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 (407) 355-7600 Florida Bar No. 270865

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I.

Respondent's convictions must be reversed where County Court Judge Wild lacked jurisdiction to preside over the instant felony prosecution because his assignment to half of the felony cases in Indian River County was not temporary. Moreover, the other half of the felony cases were assigned to County Court Judge Balsiger which in effect permanently usurped the circuit court work within the county. Thus, Mr. Dozier had no chance of having his case heard by a duty elected circuit judge since jurisdiction over all felony cases had been unconstitutionally placed in the hands of two circuit court judges.

Respondent further maintains that this Court's holding in <u>Wild v. Dozier</u>, 21 Fla. L. Weekly S57 (Fla. Feb. 8, 1996) must apply to this "pipeline" case. To hold otherwise would be to deny Mr. Dozier a remedy for this wrong-despite his strict observance of the proper and recognized procedure for challenging Judge Wild's authority in effect at the time of his trial and direct appeal. Such a result is barred by principles of fairness and equal treatment embodied in the due process and equal protection provisions of Article I, sections 9 and 16 of the Florida Constitution.

II.

Respondent's judgment of conviction and sentence for burglary of a structure cannot stand because the state failed to prove "structure", an essential element of the offense. The fatal variance between the offense alleged and the proof at trial which violated Respondent's rights to due process was fundamental error.

Respondent was fatally prejudiced by the failure of the state's proof. The Fourth District's mistaken conclusion that Respondent was not misled by this failure of proof is not supported by the record. On the contrary Respondent <u>defended</u> on the state's inability to prove the essential element "structure". The Fourth District further erred in its conclusion that Respondent could not be subject to reprosecution for burglary of a conveyance. Because

- 3 -

Respondent was convicted for an offense that is unsupported by the evidence, reversal is mandated.

III.

Prejudicial reversible error occurred where the trial court improperly and inaccurately reinstructed the jury as burglary of a structure. The reinstruction effectively relieved the state of its burden on the essential element of "structure" and left the jury with unbridled discretion as to the law they must apply. The District Court, finding error, improperly held that the error was not reversible. Because the incorrect instruction relieved the state of its burden of proof as to <u>the</u> contested issue below, Respondent was fatally prejudiced by this error. Thus, reversal is mandated.

ARGUMENT

<u>POINT I</u>

THE SUCCESSIVE ASSIGNMENTS OF COUNTY COURT JUDGE WILD WERE NOT PROPER TEMPORARY ASSIGNMENTS UNDER ARTICLE V, § 2(B) OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION AND FLORIDA RULE OF JUDICIAL ADMINISTRATION 2.050(B)(4).²

A. Jurisdiction

The jurisdictional issue is presented in a summary form in recognition that the majority of this Court has specifically or impliedly rejected this jurisdiction challenge in <u>Wild v. Dozier</u>, 21 Fla. L. Weekly S57 (Fla. Feb. 8, 1996) and thus detailed briefing would be futile. However, Respondent does urge reconsideration of these arguments as well as those set forth in Justice Kogan's cogent and succinct partial dissent.

Dozier maintains that under the facts and circumstances of this particular case, the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal which reversed his convictions must be affirmed. <u>Dozier v. State</u>, 662 So. 2d 382 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995) (A-1). Circuit Court Judge Wild lacked jurisdiction to preside over the instant felony prosecution because his assignment to half of the felony cases in Indian River County was not temporary. The other half of the felony cases at the time were assigned to County Court Judge Balsiger. Consequently, Dozier had no chance of having his case heard by a duly elected circuit judge since the jurisdiction of all felony cases had been unconstitutionally placed in the hands of two circuit court judges.

Florida Rule of Judicial Administration 2.050(b)(4) recognizes that an assignment is "temporary" if it is not permanent. <u>See Crusoe v. Rawls</u>, 472 So. 2d 1163, 1165 (Fla. 1985).

² Article V, Section 2(b) of the Florida Constitution provides that the Chief Justice of the Supreme Court may delegate to the Chief Judge of a judicial circuit the power to assign judges "temporary duty" to any court for which they are qualified in their respective circuit. Article V, section 10(b) states, in pertinent part:

¹⁰⁽b) Circuit judges and judges of county courts shall be elected by vote of the qualified electors within the territorial jurisdiction of their respective courts. The terms of circuit judges shall be for six years. The terms of judges of county courts shall be for four years.

Wild v. Dozier, 21 Fla. L. Weekly S57, 59 (Fla. Feb. 8, 1996) (Kogan, J. concurring in part and dissenting in part).

The present cause was set before the Honorable Joe Wild, one of two county court judges successively and repeatedly assigned by the Chief Judge of the Circuit to circuit court duties in the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit, Indian River County (R 32-37). Prior to trial, Dozier moved to disqualify Judge Wild, alleging that his assignment was improper (R 32-37). Judge Wild entered an order denying the motion to disqualify which is virtually identical to that entered by Judge Wild and invalidated by the Fourth District Court sitting en banc in Dozier v. Honorable Joe A Wild (Case No. 94-1104), 659 So. 2d 1105 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995) (R 38-39). Trial counsel petitioned for writ of prohibition to the Fourth District Court of Appeal which was denied June 21, 1994 (T 3).³ Dozier unsuccessfully renewed his motion to disqualify the trial judge based on lack of jurisdiction at the commencement of the trial proceedings and in the motion for new trial (T 13, R 61-63). On direct appeal to the Fourth District, Dozier challenged Judge Wild's jurisdiction. Until this Court's February 8, 1996 decision in Wild v. Dozier, supra, this was the recognized procedure for challenging a trial judge's authority. See Crusoe v. Rawls, 472 So. 2d 1163 (Fla. 1985); Payret v. Adams, 500 So. 2d 136 (Fla. 1986). See also Livingston v. State, 441 So. 2d 1083 (Fla. 1983).⁴ The Fourth District held the appointment order to be invalid and, based on Dozier's timely objection, ordered a new trial. Dozier v. State, supra (A-1). In arguing that the Fourth District Court of Appeal did not have the authority to consider Respondent's challenge to Judge Wild's jurisdiction, Petitioner contends, in effect, that this Court has precluded Respondent from any remedy to the present constitutional violation (Petitioner's Brief on the Merits at 6-

³ Those proceedings are not part of the record <u>sub judice</u>.

⁴ In <u>Livingston</u> this Court considered Livingston's motion to disqualify on direct appeal despite the fact that it had previously denied the writ without opinion. This Court recognized that Livingston was entitled to have his motion for disqualification considered based upon the circumstances of his case. Like Livingston, Dozier renewed the motion for disqualification during subsequent hearings, unquestionably preserving the issue for review on direct appeal.

7). Dozier maintains that the new procedural rule for challenging judicial appointments fashioned in <u>Wild v. Dozier</u>, <u>supra</u>, must not be retroactively applied to Respondent.⁵ The retrospective application of this rule will deny relief to Respondent who properly challenged the trial judge's authority via a writ of prohibition to the Fourth District and objection and argument on appeal (B-Appellant's Initial Brief pp. 8-16; Appellant's Reply Brief pp. 4-10).

Such a result would deny Dozier due process of law under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 9 of the Florida Constitution and would constitute an *ex post facto* violation under the Article I, section 9 (3) of the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 10 of the Florida Constitution. <u>See Miller v. Florida</u>, 482 U.S. 423 (1987) (retrospective application of sentencing guidelines violates ex post facto clauses); <u>Weaver v. Graham</u>, 450 U.S. 24 (1981) (ex post facto clauses prohibited retrospective application of statute reducing availability of gain time); <u>Bouie v. City of Columbia</u>, 378 U.S. 347, 353, 84 S. Ct. 1697, 12 L. Ed. 2d 894 (1964) (ex post facto law extended to judicial enlargements of criminal statutes which alter the situation of a party to his disadvantage).

In <u>Dugger v. Williams</u>, 593 So. 2d 180 (Fla. 1991), this Court dealt head on with the question whether a procedural change may offend the prohibition against *ex post facto* laws:

In Florida, a law or its equivalent violates the prohibition against ex post facto laws if two conditions are met: (a) It is

Id., 21 Fla. L. Weekly at S58.

⁵ The following paragraph of <u>Wild v. Dozier</u> pertains to the new procedural rule:

However, we cannot ignore the fact that County Judge Balsiger has now been assigned the other half of the felony cases in Indian River County. To permit this practice to continue would have the effect of permanently usurping a major segment of circuit court work within the county. Therefore, we direct chief Judge of Indian River County to make the appropriate judicial reassignments in order that the county judges not be assigned to more than half of the felony cases within the county. However, in view of the fact that Judge Wild and Judge Balsiger have each been sitting on felony cases pursuant to valid orders, this directive shall not be construed to mean that they have been without jurisdiction to hear these cases. (Emphasis supplied).

retrospective in effect; and (b) It diminishes a substantial substantive right the party would have enjoyed under the law existing at the time of the alleged offense. There is no requirement that the substantive right be "vested" or absolute, since the ex post fact provision can be violated even by the retroactive diminishment of *access* to a purely discretionary or conditional advantage (citations omitted) (Emphasis in original).

<u>Id</u>. at 181.

<u>Dugger v. Williams</u> went on to observe:

As is obvious from this discussion, it is too simplistic to say that an ex post facto violation can occur only with regard to substantive law, not procedural law. Clearly, some procedural matters have a substantive effect. Where this is so, an ex post facto violation also is possible, even though the general rule is that the ex post facto provision of the state constitution does not apply to purely procedural matters.

<u>Id</u>.

<u>Dugger v. Williams</u> concluded that the test for violation of a procedural change is whether there is a "substantial substantive disadvantage that is being retrospectively applied". Beyond question, the retrospective application of the new procedural rule would leave Dozier at a substantial substantive disadvantage. Simply put, he would be without any remedy.

More recently, this Court has applied principles of due process of law to determine the extent of retroactivity. <u>See State v. Brown</u>, 655 So. 2d 82, 84 (Fla. 1995) (applying fairness test to determine extent of retroactivity) and <u>State v. Snyder</u>, 21 Fla. L. Weekly S70 (Fla. February 15, 1995). In <u>Snyder</u>, <u>supra</u>, this Court held that the defendant was entitled to rely on existing case law that he was not a "convicted felon" for purposes of section 790.23 while his predicate felony was pending on appeal. During the pendency of the appeal, this Court judicially enlarged the scope of liability under the statute which would include the defendant if retroactively applied. This Court concluded that retroactive application of this judicial enlargement would violate Snyder's due process rights. <u>State v. Snyder</u>, <u>supra</u>, 21 Fla. L. Weekly at S70-71. See also Bouie v. City of Columbia, supra.

Turning to the present case, the same principles of due process of law this Court applied to <u>Brown</u> and <u>Snyder</u> must be applied to <u>Dozier</u>. Dozier did everything he could to assert his constitutional right to be tried by a duly qualified circuit court judge. At trial and on direct

- 8 -

appeal, he utilized every available vehicle in effect at the time to enforce this right. The record indisputably establishes that Dozier property asserted his right under existing case law. To apply this Court's unforeseeable procedural rule change to him would disadvantage Dozier substantially because he would be denied the substantive right to enforce his constitutional right to a duly qualified circuit court judge. Dozier urges this Court not to apply its procedural rule retroactively to him and to reject Petitioner's suggestion to do so. Principles of fairness and due process demand nothing less.

Respondent next takes issue with Petitioner's alternative claim that even if the District Court had jurisdiction, the pre-trial denial of Dozier's writ of prohibition should have precluded relief on plenary appeal (Petitioner's Brief on the Merits at 8, fn. 2). This Court's own decision in <u>Livingston v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, discussed above, as well as <u>Barwick v. State</u>, 660 So. 2d 685 (Fla. 1995) upon which Petitioner mistakenly relies, indicate otherwise.⁶

Paragraph 7 of Judge Wild's order apparently refers to comments made in a special concurring opinion <u>Wallace v. State</u>, 609 So. 2d 64, 65 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993) (Anstead, J., concurring). It should be noted that Judge Wild was the lower court judge whose decision was reviewed in <u>Wallace</u>; it is understandable that he would ascribe the effect he gave to the majority's per curiam opinion in that case. <u>The majority opinion in Wallace</u>, however, was silent on the issue concerning the assignment of the county judge; a reader of that opinion would have no clue that the issue had ever been raised.

⁶ In <u>Barwick</u>, <u>supra</u>, this Court held that because the order by this Court did not indicate on what grounds a petition for writ of prohibition was denied, it was <u>not</u> a decision on the merits. Moreover, this Court clearly indicated that it did not intend that a denial of a petition for a writ of prohibition, without more, serve as a ruling on the merits. Similarly, since the denial of Dozier's writ of prohibition in the Fourth District was without opinion, it could not serve as a ruling on the merits. Indeed, the Fourth District itself rejected Petitioner's argument, raised <u>sub judice</u>, that the denial with a citation to <u>Wallace v. State</u>, 609 So. 2d 64 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992) was a ruling on the merits. In <u>Dozier v. Wild</u>, 659 So. 2d 1103, 1104 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995), the Fourth District specifically addressed the issue as follows:

It is axiomatic that a special concurring opinion has no binding effect as precedent and represents only the person views of its author. [citations omitted]. The majority opinion is authority only for the issues raised and discussed within it. See, Greene v. Massey, 384 So. 2d 24 (Fla. 1980).

In light of the foregoing, <u>Barwick</u>, <u>supra</u>, does nothing to further Petitioner's claims. Likewise, Petitioner's citation to <u>Arp v. State</u>, 547 So. 2d 212 (Fla. 4th DCa 1989) is factually and procedurally distinguishable. <u>Arp</u>, <u>supra</u>, involved the <u>granting</u> of a writ of prohibition

Petitioner's final claim in the alternative that even if the District Court had jurisdiction to consider Respondent's claims Petitioner failed to timely present this issue, rings hollow in light of the clear record to the contrary.⁷ Petitioner's reliance upon <u>Card v. State</u>, 497 So. 2d 1160 (Fla. 1986) and <u>Stein v. Foster</u>, 557 So. 2d 861 (Fla. 1980) in this regard is misplaced. In neither <u>Card</u>, <u>supra</u>, nor <u>Stein</u>, <u>supra</u>, did the defendant as here, timely challenge the jurisdiction of the presiding trial judge. <u>Card</u>, <u>supra</u>, 497 So. 2d at 1173; <u>Stein</u>, <u>supra</u>, 557 So. 2d at 882.

Nor do any of the additional cases cited by Petitioner support its idea Judge Wild somehow had jurisdiction over the instant cause because he was a <u>de facto</u> judge (Petitioner's Brief on the Merits at 8-10). <u>E.g.</u> <u>Willie v. State</u>, 600 So. 2d 479 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992); <u>Kruckenberg v. Powell</u>, 422 So. 2d 479 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992); <u>Grossman v. Selewacs</u>, 417 So. 2d 728 (Fla. 1980); <u>In Re Peterson</u>, 364 So. 2d 98 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978); <u>In Re Bentley</u>, 342 So. 2d 1045, 1046 (Fla. 4th DCA 1977); <u>Banker's Life and Casualty Co. v. Gaines</u> <u>Construction Co.</u>, 191 So. 2d 478 (Fla. 3d DCA 1966); <u>Dade County v. Transportes Aereos</u> <u>Nacionales</u>, 298 So. 2d 570, 572 (Fla. 3d DCA 1974). Not one of the foregoing cases involves a county court judge sitting as a circuit court judge. Rather, these cases involve such matters as the divisional assignments of particular duly authorized elected or appointed circuit court judges, e.g., <u>Peterson</u>, <u>supra</u>, <u>Grossman</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Kruckenberg v. Powell</u>, <u>supra</u>; or the necessity to exhaust administrative remedies in absence of a timely raised challenge to tax assessments, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Dade County</u>, <u>supra</u>. Such circumstances are readily distinguishable from

and written order remanding the case for a hearing. Unlike <u>Arp</u>, in this case there was neither a written opinion on the merits or an order granting the writ and setting forth the nature of the relief. This case is thus inapposite as well.

⁷ Petitioner's patina of "void" versus "voidable" notwithstanding, its position is really that Dozier failed to timely raise and litigate this jurisdictional challenge, citing <u>Card v. State</u>, 497 So. 2d 1169, 1173 (Fla. 1987) (stating an objection to avoid judgment may be lodged at any time while an objection to a voidable judgment must be made immediately) (Petitioner's Brief on the Merits at 8-10). This is a non-issue, since Dozier, beyond question immediately and timely objected to the jurisdiction of Judge Wild and asserted his right to be tried by a duly elected or appointed circuit court judge under the existing case law. <u>Crusoe v. Rawls, supra;</u> <u>Payret v. Adams, supra</u>.

those at bar. Unlike the duly authorized circuit court judges in the foregoing cases, Judge Wild was not a duly elected or appointed circuit court judge. Given this critical distinction, Petitioner's claim remains unavailing.

The fact remains that the record <u>sub judice</u> establishes that two county court judges, Judge James Balsiger and Judge Wild, have been designated by the chief judge of the circuit to preside over <u>all</u> felony cases in Indian River County in 1994 (R 35-37). In his order, Judge Wild states that he has been assigned to handle one half of all Indian River felony cases since July 1, 1990, through eight successive assignments (R 38). It is relevant for this Court to recognize that Judge Balsiger had also been successively and repeatedly appointed to handle entire classes of circuit court cases since January 1, 1994. Both Judge Wild and Judge Balsiger had regular circuit court caseloads. These county judges were not assisting the circuit court on an "as needed" or "temporary" basis. The county judges had effectively served as circuit court judges for the <u>entire class</u> of cases to which they were appointed.

Respondent contends that the assignments at issue here suffered the same constitutional deficiencies as those disapproved by this Court in <u>Payret v. Adams</u>, 500 So. 2d 136 (Fla. 1986).⁸ In <u>Payret</u>, this Court held invalid successive and repetitive assignments that individually were valid but effectively created a de facto permanent circuit judge by administrative order. <u>Id</u>., 500 So. 2d at 138. (<u>Wild v. Dozier</u>, <u>supra</u>, at S59 (Kogan, J. concurring in part and dissenting in part). Similarly the assignment at issue here is a de facto permanent assignment of a county court judge to circuit judge duties in violation of article V,

⁸ In considering this difference, the Fourth District, in <u>Dozier v. Wild</u>, 659 So. 2d 1103, 1105 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995) stated:

It would require of us similar judicial legerdemain to characterize as temporary these virtually indistinguishable continuous assignments of county judges to preside over all felony cases in Indian River County for what appears to be longer that the last four (4) years. We see no validation in the notion that two county court judges have been used rather than one, or that the assignments have been in six (6) month periods rather than one (1) year. Dividing the operative facts in <u>Payret</u> by two simply does not avoid its essential holding and thus yield validity.

sections 2(b) and 10(b) of the Florida Constitution. Id.⁹ The appointment of a second county judge to preside over the other half of felony cases effectively redesignated circuit jurisdiction by administrative order, in violation of <u>Crusoe v. Rawls</u> as well as Rules 2.050(b)(4), <u>Rules of Judicial Administration</u>.

Significantly, this Court in <u>Dozier v. Wild</u>, <u>supra</u>, acknowledges this deficiency stating that to "permit this practice to continue would have the effect of permanently usurping a major segment of circuit court work within the county." <u>Dozier v. Wild</u>, <u>supra</u>, 21 Fla. L. Weekly at S58.

Applying this Court's analysis in <u>Wild v. Dozier</u> to the present case, the decision of the Fourth District must be affirmed. This remedy is proper because at the time Dozier's felony case was assigned, he had no chance of having it heard by a duly elected circuit judge. Instead, jurisdiction over all felony cases rested - unconstitutionally - in the hands of two county court judges. Consequently, the decision of the Fourth District reversing the denial of Dozier's motion to disqualify must be affirmed.

In addition, this remedy is proper under the particular facts and circumstances of this case. Wild v. Dozier, supra, involves the same county court judge, Judge Wild, the same defendant, Robert Lee Dozier, the same administrative orders, the same period of time involved in the temporary successive assignments of Judge Wild and Judge Balsiger to circuit court, and virtually identical orders denying the motion to disqualify (R 32-39). In Wild v. Dozier, this Court denied the petition for prohibition and directed the chief judge to ensure that county judges not be assigned to more than half of the felony cases within the county. Consequently, the administrative order which unconstitutionally redesignated felony jurisdiction in each of Dozier's cases will not be operative when Wild v. Dozier is remanded to the trial court. Thus, when Dozier returns to the trial court in that case, he will not be denied the

⁹ As recognized by the dissenters in <u>Wild v. Dozier</u>, while the successive assignments were limited to the six-month terms suggested by this Court in <u>Crusoe v. Rawls</u>, <u>supra</u>, the fact that they were automatic effectively gave a county court judge jurisdiction over half of all felony cases arising in Indian River County for at least four years. <u>Wild v. Dozier</u>, <u>supra</u>, 21 Fla. L. Weekly at S59 (Kogan, J. concurring in part and dissenting in part).

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